
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT PANEL

will meet on

WEDNESDAY, 28TH MARCH, 2018

At 7.00 pm

in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - GUILDHALL, WINDSOR

TO: MEMBERS OF THE WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

COUNCILLORS MALCOLM ALEXANDER (CHAIRMAN), PHILLIP BICKNELL (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), MICHAEL AIREY, JOHN BOWDEN, WISDOM DA COSTA, JESSE GREY, 
EILEEN QUICK, SAMANTHA RAYNER AND SHAMSUL SHELIM 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
COUNCILLORS NATASHA AIREY, CHRISTINE BATESON, MALCOLM BEER, 
HASHIM BHATTI, GARY MUIR, NICOLA PRYER, JACK RANKIN, WESLEY RICHARDS 
AND EDWARD WILSON

Karen Shepherd – Service Lead - Democratic Services - Issued: 20 March 2018

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Wendy Binmore 01628 796251

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building 
until told to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the meeting will be audio recorded, 
and filmed and broadcast through the online application Periscope. The footage can be found through the council’s 
main Twitter feed @RBWM or via the Periscope website. The audio recording will also be made available on the 
RBWM website, after the meeting. 

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings  may be undertaken by any person attending the 
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this 
recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the 
Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.
 

7 - 8

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

To consider the Head of Planning & Property/Development Control 
Manager’s report on planning applications received.

Full details on all planning applications (including application forms, site 
plans, objections received, correspondence etc.) can be found by accessing 
the Planning Applications Public Access Module by selecting the following 
link.

 http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp or from Democratic Services on 
01628 796251 or  democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

9 - 48

5.  ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

To consider the Essential Monitoring reports.
 

49 - 50

6.  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

To consider passing the following resolution:-
“That under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
should be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion takes 
place on item 7 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act”.
 

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp
mailto:democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk


PRIVATE MEETING - PART II

ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 
NO

7.  MINUTES - PART II 

To confirm the Part II Minutes of the previous meeting.

(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

51 - 54





LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 
1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been 
relied 
on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation. 
The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions, 
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local 
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters 
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background 
Paper, 
although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to 
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded 
as 
“Comments Awaited”. 
The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning 
Acts 
and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire 
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, 
as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common 
to 
the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents 
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”. 
 
STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000, 
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8 
(respect 
for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property) 
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is 
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the 
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing 
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s 
decision making will continue to take into account this balance. 
The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual 
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues. 

5

Agenda Item 2



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’ means a discussion by the members of 
meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote, Members should move to 
the public area or leave the room once they have made any representations.  If the interest declared has not 
been entered on to a Members’ Register of Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the 
next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any license to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 6



WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

WEDNESDAY, 28 FEBRUARY 2018

PRESENT: Councillors Malcolm Alexander (Chairman), Phillip Bicknell (Vice-
Chairman), Michael Airey, Malcolm Beer, John Bowden, Jesse Grey, Eileen Quick, 
Samantha Rayner and Shamsul Shelim

Officers: Wendy Binmore Chris Anderson, Ashley Smith and Sean O'Connor

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Da Costa.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Grey – Declared a personal interest in the enforcement item for Land to the North of 2 
and Rear of 2a to 36 Ditton Road, Datchet, as he was the Ward member for the area.

MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2018 
be approved.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION) 

16/03438 Mr Hughes: The erection of five additional close care suites at fourth 
floor level at Former Windsor Rackets and Fitness club, Helston Lane, 
Windsor – THE PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY to defer and 
delegate authority to the Head of Planning to grant planning 
permission, with the conditions and informatives listed in 
Section 4 of the Main Report, on completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement or Unilateral Undertaking to secure measures to 
ensure a safe means of escape in the event of flooding through 
the development on the site approved under separate planning 
permission.

17/03636 Mr Gray: Construction of 3 x 1 bedroom flats following demolition of 
garages 4 to 9 and stores at Land to Rear of 54 to 60 Clewer Hill 
Road, Windsor – THIS ITEM WAS DEFERRED TO THE NEXT 
MEETING OF THE WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT PANEL.

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING) 

The details of the essential monitoring reports were noted.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

To consider passing the following resolution:-
“That under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public should 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion takes place on item 8 

Public Document Pack

7

Agenda Item 3



on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act”.

The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 7.16 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

8



AGLIST 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
 

Windsor Urban Panel 
 

28th March 2018 
 

INDEX 
 

APP = Approval 

CLU = Certificate of Lawful Use 

DD = Defer and Delegate 

DLA = Defer Legal Agreement 

PERM = Permit 

PNR = Prior Approval Not Required 

REF = Refusal 

WA = Would Have Approved 

WR = Would Have Refused 

 
 

 
 

Item No. 1 
 

Application No. 17/03636/FULL Recommendation REF Page No. 11 

Location: Land To Rear of 54 To 60 Clewer Hill Road Windsor  
 

Proposal: Construction of 3 x 1 bedroom flats following demolition of garages 4 to 9 and stores 
 

Applicant: Mr Gray Member Call-in:  Expiry Date: 13 February 2018 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Item No. 2 
 

Application No. 17/03866/FULL Recommendation PERM Page No. 23 

Location: Garages Rear of 39 And 53 Montrose Avenue Datchet Slough  
 

Proposal: Erection of 2 no. three bedroom dwellings and 1 no. four bedroom dwelling with associated landscaping and 
parking, following demolition and removal from the site of the existing garage court 
 

Applicant: Ms Turnbull - Radian 
Housing 

Member Call-in:  Expiry Date: 4 April 2018 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Item No. 3 
 

Application No. 18/00057/FULL Recommendation  Page No. 34 

Location: Land East of St John The Baptist Church And Cemetery Eton Wick Road Eton Wick Windsor  
 

Proposal: Change of use of land to provide an extension to existing churchyard 
 

Applicant: Reverend LA Stacey Member Call-in:  Expiry Date: 3 April 2018 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Item No. 4 
 

Application No. 18/00065/VAR Recommendation PERM Page No. 42 

Location: 34 - 52 St Leonards Road Windsor  
 

Proposal: Variation to planning application 01/81424 (allowed on appeal) to remove condition 14 (satellite car park) for 
the erection of new college building on corner of Trinity Place/St Leonards Road plus provision of ancillary 120 
space car park and landscaping (amended 27.05.02 & 8.10.02)  
 

9

Agenda Item 4



AGLIST 

Applicant: The Windsor Forest 
Colleges Group 

Member Call-in:  Expiry Date: 24 April 2018 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Planning Appeals Received          Page No. 49 

10



   

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

 
28 March 2018          Item:  1 

Application 
No.: 

17/03636/FULL 

Location: Land To Rear of 54 To 60 Clewer Hill Road Windsor   
Proposal: Construction of 3 x 1 bedroom flats following demolition of garages 4 to 9 and stores 
Applicant: Mr Gray 
Agent: Mr Sean Kelly 
Parish/Ward: Windsor Unparished/Clewer East Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Briony Franklin on 01628 796007 or at 
briony.franklin@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The proposal seeks planning permission to construct 3 x 1 bed units. It is acknowledged that this 

scheme would make a contribution to the Borough’s housing stock through the provision of 3 
units, however the application is recommended for refusal on the grounds that the proposed 
development would result in a cramped, unsatisfactory layout and its poor design would be 
harmful to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

 

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised 
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 10 of this report): 

1. Cramped development of the site resulting in an unsatisfactory layout. 

2. Design and appearance of the 2 storey building would be out of keeping with the 
general character and visual amenity of the surrounding residential area. 

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

  At the request of Councillor Bowden, irrespective of the recommendation, on the grounds 
that local residents oppose the density and access of this development. 

  
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The application site lies on the northern side of Clewer Hill Road and forms part of a garage 

court. The garages are accessed via a narrow driveway from Clewer Hill Road. A pair of semi-
detached dwellings have recently been completed to the east of the entrance to the site on 
Clewer Hill Road. The site lies to the rear of maisonettes, numbered 54-60 Clewer Hill Road and 
adjacent to the parking/ garaging area situated to the rear of the neighbouring flats at Haileybury 
Court. To the north and east of the site lie 6 & 7 Addington Close. A mature protected oak tree 
lies within the adjacent garden of number 7 Addington Close. 

 
            The site lies within a predominantly residential area with a mix of housing styles and ages.   
 
4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The proposal involves the demolition of 6 garages and a store, and the erection of 3 x 1 bedroom 

residential units comprising a pair of two storey, mews style houses and a single storey one bed 
unit. The two storey element would have a flat roof and measure 5.3m in height. A small area of 
communal amenity space is to be provided at the front of the building.  A grassed area is to be 
provided to the rear of the single storey unit. A timber cycle enclosure and timber bin enclosure 
are also proposed. Three car parking spaces are shown to be provided in front of the units. It is 
also proposed to retain 3 of the existing garages for use by existing tenants.  

 

11



   

4.2 The external materials of the building would be brick. 
  

Ref. Description Decision and Date 

02/81891/FULL Demolition of six garages and erection of two 
semi-detached dwelling houses with associated 
parking. 

Dismissed on appeal 

03/83436/FULL Demolition of 6 lock up garages and 2 stores and 
the erection of a 4 bedroom detached house. 

Refused 

15/03216/FULL Change of use and conversion of 5 garages and 2 
storage buildings to a single storey dwelling with 
parking and amenity space. 

Refused 

16/01203/FULL Partial demolition of garages and change of use 
and conversion of 6 garages and 2 storage 
buildings to a single storey dwelling, with parking, 
access and amenity space. 

Permitted 

  
5. MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework: 
            - Core principle 4 – Good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupiers, 
            - Section 6 (Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes), 
            - Section 7 (Requiring good design). 
 
 Royal Borough Local Plan 
 
5.2 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

Within settlement 
area 

Highways and 
Parking Trees 

DG1, H10, H11 P4, T5 N6 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 
 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
 

Issue Local Plan Policy 

Design in keeping with character and appearance 
of area 

SP2, SP3, H05 

Makes suitable provision for infrastructure  IF1, IF2 

Trees NR2 

 
The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report which summarises the issues raised in the 
representations and sets out its response to them.  This report, together with all the 
representations received during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents 
have now been submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. In this context, the Borough 
Local Plan: Submission Version is a material consideration, but limited weight is afforded to this 
document at this time ahead of its examination. 
 
This document can be found at: 
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf 

 
 Other Local Strategies or Publications 

12

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf


   

 
5.3 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  RBWM Townscape Assessment – view at: 

  RBWM Parking Strategy – view at:  
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 
 
6. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The key issues for consideration are: 

 
i The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
ii The impact of the proposal on the neighbouring amenity and the amenity of future 

occupiers.  
 
iii The impact on the adjacent TPO tree. 
 
iv Highways and parking.  

 
            Impact of the character and appearance of the area 
     
6.2 Local Plan Policy DG1 sets out the design guidance for new development. One of these is that 

harm should not be caused to the character of the surrounding area through development which 
is cramped. Paragraph 5.7.3 states that this policy should be considered together with Policy 
H10, which refers specifically to new residential development scheme, requiring them to display 
high standards of design and landscaping in order to create attractive, safe and diverse 
residential areas. Policy H11 states that in established residential areas planning permission will 
not be granted for schemes which introduce a scale or density which would be incompatible 
with or cause damage to the character and amenity of the area. Bullet point 4 of the Core 
Planning Principles at paragraph 17 of the NPPF states that planning should seek to secure 
high quality design and good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land 
and buildings 

 
6.3      The site lies within a predominately residential suburban area with a mix of housing types and 

styles including terraces, flats, maisonettes, semi-detached and detached dwellings. The site is 
set behind numbers 54-60 Clewer Hill road and currently forms part of a garage court. Whilst 
the site is not readily visible from the public realm it is visible from the adjoining neighbouring 
properties. 

 
6.4 The principle of residential development on this site has already been established and this 

current application follows a recent approval to erect a 1 x 2 bed single storey dwelling on this 
site under planning permission 16/01203/FULL. The current proposal is sited within the confines 
of the footprint of this extant permission. However it is now proposed to create 3 x 1 bed 
dwellings. Two of the units are proposed to be 2 storey with a third unit comprising a single 
storey return element.  

 
6.5     The site is constrained by its size and shape and the building would come close to the site 

boundaries. Whilst the footprint of the development is the same as the previously approved 
scheme and the density of development would be comparable with surrounding residential 
densities this is not the only measure of acceptability of a development. In this case the 
provision of 3 units on the site necessitates the need to provide additional spaces for bins, 
bikes, entrances, footpaths and parking. It is necessary to consider whether or not the layout 
functions well and provides a good sense of space around the building as well as an attractive, 
high quality place to live. The small amenity space to the front of the building would not be high 
quality as it would be surrounded by parking, open to the other parts of the site where other 
users are and surrounded by footpaths. The rear space would be over shadowed by the 

13

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

adjacent tree, not easily accessible and would create issues for residents whose bedroom 
would be directly overlooking it. The plan supplied by the agent showing the amenity areas 
(indicative landscape drawing only) introduces gates/railings and sub divides the rear garden 
space. It introduces greater visual clutter, creates an inaccessible area of garden space to the 
rear and makes access to the centre garden space unclear.  All these factors are considered to 
be indicative of an unsatisfactory, cramped layout and it is considered that the current layout 
could not support 3 units on the site.  

 
6.6       The proposed development has been designed in a mews style, courtyard development and the 

2 storey buildings would have flat roofs with an overall height of 5.3m. This type of mews design 
is not a typology common to the area and the fact that the first floors have three blank sides’ 
makes for poor design as well as being an indication of poor layout. The example of nearby flat 
roof terraced cottages in Clewer Hill Road cited by the agent is not considered to be 
comparable with the proposed development. It is considered that the proposal would appear at 
odds and out of keeping with the general character of the surrounding residential area and 
would detract from the visual amenity of the locality in general. 

 
6.7       The permitted scheme under application number 16/01203/FULL for a single storey 2 bed unit 

has a much more spacious layout and provision for a useable, private amenity space. The 2 
parking spaces would also be well laid out so as to have plenty of room for manoeuvring/turning 
and provides a much more satisfactory layout. On this basis, whilst the extant permission has 
established the principle of development and the footprint remains the same and carries weight 
in relation to those elements of the scheme, there are significant differences between the two 
schemes in relation to the scale and layout of the proposal.   

 
6.8      It is concluded that the proposed development would result in a cramped, unsatisfactory layout 

and its poor design would be harmful to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  
 

Impact on the neighbouring amenity and the amenity of future occupiers 
 

6.9 As noted above the submitted plans indicate only a small communal garden and the scheme is 
considered to lack sufficient quality and quantity of outdoor amenity space for future occupiers, 
contrary to bullet point 4 of the Core Planning Principles at paragraph 17 of the NPPF which 
states that planning should seek to secure high quality design and good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 

 
6.10 In terms of the impact of the proposed building on the amenities of neighbours it is not 

considered that the proposed building would have any adverse impact on light and outlook from 
any neighbouring properties given the distances which would be maintained.  The two storey 
dwellings have been designed to have first floor windows in the front elevation only and would 
serve bedrooms and dressing rooms. These windows would be sited approximately 11m from 
the flank boundary with number 6 Addington Close which is considered to be a reasonable 
separation distance in this urban context. However a separation distance of just 7m to 7.5m 
would be maintained between the proposed first floor windows and the flank boundary with 
number 7 Addington Close and concern has been raised by the neighbours regarding the 
potential for overlooking and loss of privacy from the proposed development. In determining the 
appeal under application number 02/81891/FUL for a similar separation distance of 7m from 
primary bedroom windows to the neighbouring boundary the Inspector found the relationship to 
be acceptable concluding ‘that the proposed development would not lead to unacceptable 
overlooking of adjacent properties or gardens.’  On this basis it is not considered that an 
objection on the grounds of overlooking and loss of privacy could be substantiated however in 
the interest of neighbourliness the dressing room window could be conditioned to be obscure 
glazed to help minimise the potential for overlooking. 

 
 6.11 The ground floor windows would not introduce an unacceptable level of overlooking or loss of 

privacy to the neighbouring properties providing suitable boundary fencing/treatment is provided 
and this could be secure by condition in the event of planning permission being granted.  

            

14



   

 
Impact on the adjacent Oak Tree  

 
6.12    There is a protected Oak tree adjacent to the northern boundary within the garden of number 7 

Addington Close which is an important landscape feature. As before the proposal sits on the 
same footprint and would be within the British Standard Root Protection Area. This current 
application also now includes a timber cycle enclosure which is proposed to be constructed off a 
pre-existing slab. During the course of the application further tree information has been supplied 
which includes an updated arboricultural survey, a plan detailing the foundations, a drawing 
showing a section of the site to demonstrate the proposed cycle store constructed off the 
existing slab and a Tree Protection Plan.  

 
 6.13   The Tree officer has confirmed that as long as the foundations for the building and cycle store 

are pile and beam and installed in accordance with the submitted construction diagrams there 
will be no additional arborcultural impact on the neighbouring Oak tree. No arboricultural 
objection is therefore raised to the proposal subject to suitable conditions being included on any 
planning permission. 

 
 Highways and parking 
 

6.14 The site is accessed via a drive off Clewer Hill Road, a classified road. The proposal involves the 
removal of a number of garages and the loss of these garages has already been accepted in 
principle under previous proposals for this site. A total of 3 parking spaces are shown to be 
provided in connection with the 3 x 1 bed units and three garages are to be retained for use by 
private individuals.  

 
6.15   The Highway Authority has noted that the current width of the access does not comply with 

RBWM’s current highway design guide. However it is acknowledged that the application is likely 
to result in a reduction of vehicle usage and there have been no recorded collisions within the 
vicinity of the access within the last 5 years. The use of the existing access is therefore deemed 
acceptable. 

 
6.16    The application includes the provision of 3 parking spaces which complies with RBWM’s current 

parking strategy. Concern was originally raised regarding the inadequacies of the parking layout. 
A minimum clearance between the parking bays and the boundary should be 6m rather than the 
5m shown to be provided. A revised block plan has now been submitted which increases the 
width of one of the proposed parking spaces in order to provide more manoeuvring space and 
the highway section has confirmed that this is acceptable.  

 
6.17    A revised block plan and tracking drawing have also been supplied to address the original 

concerns raised by the highway section. In addition a bin collection point within 30m of the 
highway has now been provided to overcome the need for a refuse vehicle to enter the site. The 
highway section has confirmed that they have no objection to the amended arrangements and 
would recommend conditions in the event of planning permission being granted. 

 
6.18   The application includes one secure, covered cycle parking provision for each dwelling which 

complies with RBWM’s current guidance.     
 
6.19 A number of the public responses have referred to the fact that the parking spaces perpendicular 

to the garages will be inaccessible due to existing residents parking outside their adjoining 
garages. The agent has confirmed that the applicant owns the entire garage forecourt and the 
owners/users of the adjoining garages are under existing legal obligation not to obstruct/park on 
the garage forecourt. Whilst not strictly a planning matter a letter has been supplied by the 
client’s solicitors in response to a letter received from local residents. It confirms that they only 
have rights of way over the forecourt in front of the garages and that they are obliged by a 
restrictive covenant in their title deeds, and an express covenant in their leases, not to obstruct 
the forecourt.  

  
  
 

15



   

Other Material Considerations 
 
 Housing Land Supply 
 
6.20 Paragraphs 7 and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set out that there will 

be a presumption in favour of Sustainable Development.  Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 

 
6.21 It is acknowledged that this scheme would make a small contribution to further boosting the 

Borough’s housing stock.  However, it is the view of the Local Planning Authority that the socio-
economic benefits of the additional dwellings would be significantly and demonstrably 
outweighed by the adverse impacts arising from the scheme proposed, contrary to the adopted 
local and neighbourhood plan policies, all of which are essentially consisted with the NPPF, and 
to the development plan as a whole. 

 
7. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
7.1 In line with the Council’s Charging Schedule the proposed development would be CIL liable.  CIL 

is charged at the rate of £240 per square metre. The applicant has submitted the required 
Additional Information Requirement Form advising on the existing gross internal residential floor 
space of 157 sq.m and a proposed internal floor space of 208 sq.m. In order for the internal floor 
area of the garages to be deducted from the proposed GIA residential floor space the applicant 
will need to provide evidence that the garages to be demolished have been in lawful use for 
parking for 6 months in the last 3 years. In the absence of this evidence the applicant will need to 
amend the CIL forms and the CIL payment will be based solely on the new floor space figures. 

 
8. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
           
 A site notice was posted on a lamp post in Clewer Hill Road close to the application site on 15th 

January 2018. A total of 15 neighbours have been notified and 16 letters have been received 
objecting to the application including 6 duplicate letters from the residents of the adjacent flats at 
Haileybury Court.  The objections are summarised as: 

 

Comment Officer Response 

Residents of Haileybury Court and no.6 Addington Close are 
missing from the notification list 

Additional notification was 
carried out to include 
these neighbours.  

Existing roofs and gutters of garages made out of asbestos.  
This would be covered by 
separate regulations.  

Design & size of development is alien and overbearing to 
surrounding properties. Incompatible and out of keeping with 
area.  

See assessment (para 
6.6) 

Loss of privacy and amenity to numbers 6 & 7 Addington 
Close  

See assessment (para 
6.10 & 6.11) 
 
 

Cramped and density would have detrimental impact on 
amenities of existing properties  

See assessment (para 
6.5) 

Little or no amenity space for future occupants 
See assessment (para 
6.5) 

Too close to Oak tree. Future pressure to reduce tree which 
could threaten viability.  

See assessment( para 
6.12) 

No visitor parking provided. Displacement of more cars onto 
Clewer Hill Road which is already heavily parked could 
cause highway problems 

See assessment ( Para 
6.16) 

Third parking space would be tight squeeze and other 2 See assessment (6.16 & 

16



   

spaces could be difficult to use with access to garages being 
required. 

6.19) 

Tenants of garages have always parked in front of their 
garages. This would make parking plan unviable. 

See assessment (6.19) 

Emergency vehicles must be able to turn within access area. See assessment (6.17) 

If claim for prescriptive easement to park outside garages is 
successful turning arrangements would be unworkable, 

See assessment (6.19) 

Monolithic, featureless block will damage amenity of 
residents. 

See assessment (6.6) 

Loss of daylight and sunlight to adjacent flats See assessment (6.10) 

Block view of sky See assessment  (6.10) 

 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Highways  No objection subject to conditions. 6.14 -6.18 

Tree Officer  No objection subject to conditions. 6.12 – 6.13 

Environment
al Protection 
Officer 

No comments received to date  

  
9. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
  

  Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout 

  Appendix B – plan and elevation drawings 

  
10. REASON RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL.  
 
 1 The  proposed development, by virtue of its siting, layout, form and design would result in a  

cramped, over development of the site and would appear out of keeping with the general 
character of the surrounding residential area and would detract from the visual amenity of the 
locality in general contrary to policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating Alterations Adopted June 2003). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

17



Appendix A 

 

 

18



Appendix B 

 

 

19



 

 

20



 

 

21



 

22



   

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 
 
28 March 2018          Item:  2 

Application 
No.: 

17/03866/FULL 

Location: Garages Rear of 39 And 53 Montrose Avenue Datchet Slough   
Proposal: Erection of 2 no. three bedroom dwellings and 1 no. four bedroom dwelling with 

associated landscaping and parking, following demolition and removal from the site of 
the existing garage court 

Applicant: Ms Turnbull - Radian Housing 
Agent: Mrs Elizabeth Holmes - Bell Cornwell LLP 
Parish/Ward: Datchet Parish/Datchet Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Adam Jackson on 01628 796660 or at 
adam.jackson@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The design, scale and density of the dwellings are considered to be compatible with the character 

and appearance of the area. The development would also respect the pattern of development in 
the area. 
 

1.2 The separation distances are considered sufficient to prevent any serious loss of light to 
neighbouring properties and to prevent the dwellings from appearing overbearing. Subject to 
conditions the proposal also would not result in a significant loss of privacy for neighbouring 
properties. 
 

1.3 The dwellings are sufficiently flood resilient and resistant and a dry escape route is available to 
the rear of the site in flood conditions. The development would result in a significant decrease in 
built footprint on site and would also reduce the level of hardstanding thereby increasing the 
capacity of the flood plain to store water and reducing flood risk elsewhere. 
 

1.4 7 car parking spaces will be provided on site which is sufficient for a development of this size 
under the Borough’s parking standards. The access is also considered to be adequate given and 
there would be no material highway safety impacts. A turning area is provided within the site to 
allow vehicles to enter and exit the site in a forward gear. 

 

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in 
Section 10 of this report. 

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

 The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to 
determine the application in the way recommended as the application is for more than 2 
dwellings; such decisions can only be made by the Panel. 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The application site is located behind Montrose Avenue, Datchet. There are a variety of housing 

types in the area; however, in general properties are semi-detached or terraced. Most properties 
have parking areas to the front; there is no strong pattern of development in the area as the 
orientation of dwellings varies. The application site is currently occupied by an unused garage 
block and is accessed via a private driveway between 39 and 53 Montrose Avenue. The 
application site is located within Flood Zone 2 which is an area considered to be at medium risk 
of flooding. 

 
 
4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

23



   

4.1 The proposal is for a terrace containing 2 x 3 bedroom dwellings and a 1 x 4 bedroom dwelling 
with associated landscaping and parking following demolition and removal of the existing garage 
blocks on site. The dwellings are 8.8m tall with a hipped roof and eaves at 5.3m. The overall 
footprint of the dwellings is 170sqm and each property is provided with a good sized garden to 
the rear. 7 parking spaces are proposed to the front of the site which is sufficient for 2 for each of 
the 3 bedroom dwellings and 3 for the 4 bedroom dwelling. Each dwelling will also be provided 
with space for cycle and refuse storage. The site is accessed via a private driveway between 39 
and 53 Montrose Avenue. 

 
5. MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

1. Core planning principles – paragraph 17 
2. Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
3. Section 7 – Requiring good design 
4. Section 10 – Meeting the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 
 
 Royal Borough Local Plan 
 
5.2 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

Within settlement 
area 

Highways and 
Parking Flooding 

DG1, H10, H11 P4, T5 F1 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 
 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
 

Issue Local Plan Policy 

Design in keeping with character and appearance 
of area 

SP2, SP3 

Housing mix and style and density HO2, HO5 

Manages flood risk and waterways  NR1 

Sustainable transport IF2 

 
The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report which summarises the issues raised in the 
representations and sets out its response to them.  This report, together with all the 
representations received during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents 
have now been submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. In this context, the Borough 
Local Plan: Submission Version is a material consideration, but limited weight is afforded to this 
document at this time ahead of its examination.  
 
This document can be found at: 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1 

 
 Supplementary planning documents 
 
5.3 Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  The Interpretation of Policy F1 (Area Liable to Flooding) Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) 2004.  

 

24

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1


   

 More information on these documents can be found at: 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni
ng 

 
Other Local Strategies or Publications 

 
5.4 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  RBWM Townscape Assessment 

  RBWM Parking Strategy 
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 
 
6. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 

i Character 
 
ii Residential amenity 
 
iii Flooding 
 
iv Parking/Highway safety 

 
 Character 
 
6.2 The site is located within an existing residential area which comprises a mix of housing types 

from semi-detached and terraced properties to flatted developments. Sites in the area tend to 
have their own frontages onto the road, however, there is no strong pattern of development or 
building line with streets crossing and leading off from Montrose Avenue at multiple points. 
Within this context therefore the location of the dwellings behind numbers 39 - 53 Montrose 
Avenue is considered to be acceptable. 

 
6.3 The dwellings are of a similar scale to other properties within the area and are of a simple design 

with a hipped roof and traditional materials. This is considered to be compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area. 

 
6.4 Landscaping will be provided within the shared areas of the site including the access road. This 

helps to soften the development and improves the overall appearance of the site. The 
rejuvenation of the site will also help improve the character and appearance of the area by 
removing an unused /derelict garage block. 

 
 Residential amenity 
 
6.5 The application site is enclosed on all sides by existing residential gardens. The separation 

distances, however, which are approximately 3.5m to the side boundaries, 10 metres to the rear 
and 14 metres to the front boundary are considered sufficient to prevent the dwellings from 
appearing significantly overbearing or causing a material loss of light to neighbouring properties. 
There are 2 first floor side windows, however, these serve en-suite bathrooms and as such can 
be obscurely glazed to protect neighbours privacy. The proposed first floor rear facing and front 
facing windows will provide views into neighbouring gardens, however, these views would be 
from a greater distances (minimum of 10m) and the area is a high density residential area 
meaning gardens are already partially overlooked, the separation is therefore considered 
acceptable in this context. 

.  
  

Flooding 

25

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

 
6.6 The site is located within Flood Zone 2 which is an area considered to be at medium risk of 

flooding. The application is supported by a flood risk assessment and a separate sequential 
assessment which (taking into account the amendments made within revision A, dated 
28.02.2018) demonstrates that there are no available sites in areas of lower flood risk which are 
suitable for the development.  

 
6.7 It is not necessary for the exceptions test to be passed as the development, subject to the other 

flooding requirements within the NPPF (see assessment below) is appropriate development 
within flood zone 2. 

 
6.8 A pedestrian route is available to the rear of the site which leads to Fairfield Avenue, from here a 

dry escape route is possible until you are out of flood zone entirely. This is set out in the 
applicants flood risk assessment and has been calculated using predicted flooding levels based 
on the 1 in 100 flood data + a 25% allowance for climate change. National planning guidance and 
guidance on the Environment Agency website advises that this is an appropriate methodology for 
residential (more vulnerable) uses within the flood zone 2 in the Thames area. In addition the 
internal floor levels of the dwellings will be set 410mm above the predicted 1 in 100 + climate 
change flood levels. The EA recommend that internal floor levels should be set a minimum of 
300mm above predicted flood levels and as such this is sufficient to ensure that the dwellings 
would be flood resilient.   

 
6.9 The dwellings will have a footprint of 170sqm which will result in a built footprint reduction of 

228sqm due to the demolition of the existing garage blocks which have a combined footprint of 
398sqm. The level of hardstanding on site will also be reduced. The proposal therefore will 
increase the capacity of the flood plain to store water thereby reducing flood risk elsewhere. 

 
 Parking/Highway safety 
 
6.10 The development includes 7 car parking spaces which is sufficient to provide 2 spaces for each 

of the 3 bedroom dwellings and 3 spaces for the 4 bedroom dwelling in line with the Borough’s 
standards. There is a space of 6 metres behind the parking spaces which is sufficient to allow 
cars to freely manoeuvre in an out of the spaces and therefore enter and exit the site in a forward 
gear. The design and access statement sets out that the garages have been vacant for over 2 
years and as such the proposal would not lead to a parking shortfall elsewhere. 

 
6.11 The dwellings will be served by an existing access road which has a width of 4 metres, or 

approximately 3.8 metres when taking into account the proposed hedgerow along either side. A 
slightly wider access road would be preferable, however, this is still wide enough to 
accommodate most standard vehicles and the access way has been sufficient in the past to 
serve circa 29 garages. The required visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m can be provided along 
Montrose Avenue. Additionally the historic use of the site as garages could be brought back into 
use without planning permission and this would likely generate more traffic than the new 
dwellings. The development therefore will not create any material highway safety issues. 

 
6.12 Cycle as well as refuse/recycle stores are proposed within the rear gardens of the dwellings and 

a bin collection point is proposed near the site access road to allow for refuse to be collected. 
There is no need for refuse collection vehicles to enter the site. 

 
 Other Material Considerations 
 
 Housing Land Supply 
 
6.13 Paragraphs 7 and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set out that there will be 

a presumption in favour of Sustainable Development.  Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, and that relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing sites.  Following the Regulation 19 consultation on the Submission Version of 
the Local Plan, the Council formally submitted on the 31 January 2018. The Borough Local Plan 

26



   

sets out a stepped housing trajectory over the plan period (2013-2033). As detailed in the 
supporting Housing Land Availability Assessment a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
can be demonstrated against this proposed stepped trajectory. 

 
7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 23 occupiers were notified directly of the application. 
 
 The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 18.01.2018 
 
 
  2 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:  
 

Comment Officer response 

1. Concerns have been raised that big lorries 
and machinery required for the building 
works will cause disturbance and block 
neighbouring driveways, that there is no 
space for vehicles to turn without blocking 
neighbouring driveways and that there is 
insufficient space for recycling lorries or 
emergency vehicles to pass without 
causing damage to parked cars. 

The site is not within a highly constrained 
area and as such construction vehicles are 
unlikely to cause significant disturbances. 
The site is large enough to accommodate 
the majority of vehicles and materials 
relating to the site with only the larger 
vehicles potentially being unable to access 
the site.  

2. Concerns have been raised that noise 
from the site could cause disturbance 
during early hours. 

The borough have permitted hours of 
operation for noise generating activities 
which are 08:00 – 18:00 Monday to Friday 
and 08:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays. Any 
undue noise or disturbance should be 
reported to the Council’s Environmental 
Protection team. 

3. Concerns have been raised that the 
dwellings will result in a loss of privacy to 
neighbouring properties.   

This has been considered in paragraph 6.5. 

4. Questions have been raised with regards 
to how the new houses will impact on 
existing infrastructure (water gas etc.). 

The additional dwellings are not considered 
to place significant additional pressure on 
existing infrastructure.   

5. Concerns have been raised that the new 
houses will cause light pollution. 

Light spillage from the site would not be 
significant given the area is already a high 
density residential area.   

6. Concerns have been raised that the 
dwellings are too modern looking for the 
road. 

This has been considered in paragraphs 
6.2 – 6.4. 

7. Concerns have been raised that there is 
insufficient car parking and the 
development will lead to on street parking 
to the detriment of high way safety. 

This has been considered in paragraphs 
6.10 and 6.11 

8. Concerns have been raised regarding the 
inadequacy of the site access. 

This has been considered in paragraphs 
6.10 and 6.11. 

9. Concerns have been raised that the 
addition of a working driveway will 
negatively impact highway safety in the 
surrounding area and will impact access to 
other properties. 

This is an existing driveway which whilst not 
currently in use could be brought back into 
use irrespective of this planning permission. 
The Council’s Highways Officer has 
confirmed that the access is wide enough 
and would provide sufficient visibility spays 
in either direction. Provided cars are not 
parked in a manner that would obstruct this 
driveway there will be no material highway 
safety impacts. 

27



   

10. Concerns have bene raised that the 
development will reduce the permeability 
of the site, leading to increased flood risk 
elsewhere.  

This has been considered in paragraphs 
6.6 to 6.9 

 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment Officer response 

Environment 
Agency 

No objections subject to conditions 
relating to land contamination. 

Noted – the suggested condition has 
been included as a recommended 
condition.  

 
 Other consultees 
 

Consultee Comment Officer response 

Environmental 
Protection 

No objections subject to conditions 
relating to insulation against aircraft 
noise. 

Noted – the suggested condition has 
been included as a recommended 
condition. 

Highways No objections subject to conditions 
relating to construction 
management, parking/turning and 
refuse/recycling bin provision 

Noted – It is not necessary to include a 
construction management condition as 
the site and surrounding area is not 
highly constrained. All other conditions 
have been included as recommended 
conditions. 

 
9. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 
  

 Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout 

 Appendix B – plan and elevation drawings 

 
10. CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED REASONS  
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this 

permission.  
Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended).  

 
2 The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall be in accordance with 

those specified in the application unless any different materials are first agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1. 
 
3 The first floor windows in the side (north and south) elevations of the dwellings shall be of a 

permanently fixed, non-opening design, with the exception of an opening toplight that is a 
minimum of 1.7m above the finished internal floor level, and fitted with obscure glass and the 
window shall not be altered without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers.  Relevant Policies 
- Local Plan H11. 

 
4 No further window(s) shall be inserted at first floor level in the side (north and south) elevations of 

the dwellings without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policies 
- Local Plan H11. 

 
5 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site 

then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be 
dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

28



   

remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and the 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. Relevant Policy Local Plan 
NAP4. 

 
6 Details of the measures to be taken to acoustically insulate all habitable rooms of the 

development hereby permitted against aircraft noise, together with details of the methods of 
providing ventilation to habitable rooms shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and 
approved in writing before the construction of the dwellings commences. 
Reason: To protect the residential amenities of the development from aircraft noise and to accord 
with the Local Plan Policy NAP2. 

 
7 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been 

provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing.  The space 
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear. 
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1 

 
8 No part of the development shall be occupied until the refuse bin storage area and recycling 

facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing.  These facilities shall be 
kept available for use in association with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be 
serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety 
and to ensure the sustainability of the development. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1 

 
9 No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities 

have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing.  These facilities shall thereafter be 
kept available for the parking of cycles in association with the development at all times. 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is provided with adequate cycle parking facilities in 
order to encourage the use of alternative modes of transport.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, 
DG1. 

 
10 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

 
 
 
 

29



Appendix A—Site  location plan 

30



Appendix B—Plan and elevation drawings 

Existing site plan 

31



Proposed site plan 

32



Proposed floor plans and elevations 

33



   

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 
 
28 March 2018          Item:  3 

Application 
No.: 

18/00057/FULL 

Location: Land East of St John The Baptist Church And Cemetery Eton Wick Road Eton Wick 
Windsor   

Proposal: Change of use of land to provide an extension to existing churchyard 
Applicant: Reverend LA Stacey 
Agent: Jane Carter 
Parish/Ward: Eton Town Council/Eton Wick Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Briony Franklin on 01628 796007 or at 
briony.franklin@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 

Planning permission is sought to change the use of land to the east of St John the Baptist Church 
and cemetery to provide an extension to the existing churchyard. The Environment Agency has 
objected to the proposal on the grounds that the development will pose an unacceptable risk of 
pollution to groundwater. Therefore, despite the large amount of support received from local 
residents, the application should be refused. 

 

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised 
reason (the full reasons are identified in Section 10 of this report): 

1. The proposed development would pose an unacceptable risk of pollution to 
groundwater which is contrary to the guidance set out in paragraph 109 of the NPPF 
and Local Plan policy NAP4 

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

 Councillor Rayner has requested the application come before Panel on the grounds of public 
interest in the event that the application is recommended for refusal.   

  
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The application site is located on the edge of Eton Wick village and adjacent to St John the 

Baptist Church, which is a Grade II Listed Building. The land is currently used as paddocks. To 
the northwest of the site are the grounds of Eton Wick C of E First School. To the west is the 
existing churchyard of St John the Baptist church. The site comprises a rectangular area of 
paddock land measuring 25m by 29m, approximately 0.07ha. It is generally flat and grassed. The 
site is well screened from Eton Wick Road by an existing hedge.  

 
3.2      Access to the proposed churchyard extension will be from Eton Wick Road via the existing 

gates and through the churchyard.  
 
3.3      The site lies within the designated Green Belt, Flood Zones 2 & 3 and Source Protection Zones 2 

& 3. 
 
4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The proposal seeks to change the use of the land to provide an extension to the existing 

churchyard. A chain link fence at a height of 1.8m is proposed to be erected to enclose the site 
and a new 3m wide opening is to be provided in the existing chain link fence to create access into 
the site from the existing cemetery. The vehicular access onto Eton Wick Road will remain 
unchanged. 

  

Ref. Description Decision and Date 

34



   

08/00916/FULL Extension to existing graveyard plus chain link 
boundary fence 

Permitted but not 
implemented. 

15/01991/FULL Extension to existing graveyard Withdrawn 

15/03599/FULL Extension to existing graveyard Withdrawn 

  
            This application follows an earlier scheme for the same development submitted in 2015 which 

was withdrawn in September 2015. Further information was required by the Environment Agency 
and this has now been submitted with the current application. The same proposal was approved 
in 2008. 

 
5. MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework: 
            - Section 9 (Protecting Green Belt land)  
            - Section 10 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change)  
            - Section 12 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) 
 
 Royal Borough Local Plan 
 
5.2 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

Green Belt  
Highways and 

Parking Pollution 
Conservation Flooding  

GB1 & GB2 P4, T5 NAP 4 LB2 F1 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 
 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
 

Issue Local Plan Policy 

Green Belt SP6 

Managing Flood Risk NR3 

Environmental Protection EP5 

 
The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report which summarises the issues raised in the 
representations and sets out its response to them.  This report, together with all the 
representations received during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents 
have now been submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. In this context, the Borough 
Local Plan: Submission Version is a material consideration, but limited weight is afforded to this 
document at this time ahead of its examination. 
 
This document can be found at: 
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf 

 
 Other Local Strategies or Publications 
 
5.3 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Interpretation of Policy NAP4’   
 
 More information on this document can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 

35

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf
http://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14392/Appendix%20A%20-%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Submission%20Version.pdf
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

 
6. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The key issues for consideration are: 

 
i Impact on the Green Belt 
 
ii        Impact on the visual amenity of the area. 
 
iii       Impact on setting of listed building. 
 
iv       Flood Risk 
 
v Impact on groundwater quality 
          
vi     Parking and highways Issues 

  
           Impact on the Green Belt 
 

6.2 Local Plan Policy GB1 relates to development in the Green Belt and explains that unless 
very special circumstances apply, approval will only be given for specific types of 
development including “for cemeteries, and for other uses of land which preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt”. This policy is however no longer fully compliant with the 
NPPF. Policy GB2 advises that permission for new development within the Green Belt will 
not be granted for proposals which would have greater impact on openness or the purposes 
for including land within the Green Belt than existing development on the site.  

 
6.3 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts and paragraph 79 of the NPPF 

states “The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence." 

  
6.4 Paragraphs 89 and 90 set out the types of development which may be considered 

appropriate development in the Green Belt. The change of use of land is not one of the 
specified exceptions. Therefore the change of use of the land to a cemetery would constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. When considering any planning application, 
local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt and ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations. 

 
6.5 In support of the application the agent has explained that at current rates of burial and 

interment it is anticipated that the existing churchyard will be full in 2 to 3 years’ time. 
Residents of the Parish still wish to be buried here after 2020 because it is close to their 
homes and families. There is great concern particularly from older residents who understand 
that the churchyard is nearly full but still want to be buried in the Parish. They do not wish to 
be buried in another part of the Borough or elsewhere. Only people who live or die in the 
parish, which covers Eton Wick, Eton and Boveney and those on the electoral roll of the 
Church can be buried here. Therefore the number of people who may be eligible is very low. 
Over the past 4 years there have only been between 3 and 5 burials a year. 

  
6.6 It is clear that there is considerable support for the proposal amongst local residents and it is 

understood that a preliminary search for other sites in and around the Parish has been 
carried out but any suitable available plots are also in the Green Belt. The proposed site has 
the advantage of being adjacent to the existing churchyard and able to use the Church and 
other facilities already in place for the existing Churchyard.  

 

36



   

6.7 The use of the land as an extension to the existing churchyard would involve the erection of 
monuments or headstones. It is understood that the height, width and thickness of 
monuments is restricted under the Diocese of Oxford Churchyard Regulations 2016 to no 
higher than 1220mm, no wider than 915mm, and no thicker than 155mm. Ledger stones are 
laid flush with the ground and would have no impact. Other than the monuments and ledger 
stones the churchyard will be grassed over, with some planting of bulbs and annuals 
permitted. It is therefore acknowledged that the proposal would have no adverse impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt. 

 
6.8 For the reasons set out above it is considered that there are sufficient ‘Very special 

Circumstances’ in this case to warrant an exception to Green Belt policy and no objection is 
therefore raised to the proposal on Green Belt policy grounds.  

 
          Impact on the visual amenity of the area  
 
6.9 The site is reasonably well screened from Eton Wick Road by an existing hedge which would 

be retained. A 1.8m high chain link fence is proposed to enclose the site which would enable 
views into and out of the site. Given the nature of the proposed use it is not considered that 
the proposal would have an adverse impact on the visual amenity of the site itself or the 
locality in general. 

 
            Impact on setting of listed building 
 
6.10 The Conservation Officer has confirmed that the proposal to extend the church yard will not 

cause harm to the significance of the Listed Building or its setting. The church yard has expanded 
over the years, particularly in the 1960’s where a large extension to the yard is evident in the OS 
maps. These changes to the setting of the Listed Building have been made to continue the 
optimum viable use of the building as a church. The current proposal is for the extension of the 
churchyard in a similar and moderate fashion and will not have a detrimental effect on the setting 
of this grade II listed church. 

 

 Flood Risk  
  

6.11 The application site lies within Flood Zones 2 & 3 (high risk) and the application has been 
accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment.  Although the site is at a high risk of flooding the 

proposed use is not within one of the categories of vulnerable uses that should be avoided in such 

areas. There are no buildings proposed. The monuments/headstones and chain link fence would not 

impede flood water and would have an imperceptible impact on flood storage capacity. No lives or 

property will be endangered and no other properties would be at an increased risk of flooding from this 

proposal. On this basis the proposal would accord with local plan policy F1 and no objection is raised 

to the proposal on flooding grounds. 
 

          Impact on ground water quality 
 

6.12 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by amongst other things ‘preventing both new 
and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or 
being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability…’ 

 
6.13 Saved Local Plan policy NAP4 states that ‘The Council will no grant planning permission for 

development which poses or might pose an unacceptable risk to the quality of groundwater 
and/or which would have a detrimental effect on the quality of surface water.’ 

 
 
 
6.14 The applicant is required to submit details of measures designed to ensure no detrimental 

effect on surface and groundwater. Groundwater plays a key role in meeting public water 

37



   

supply needs in the Windsor and Maidenhead areas. Adequate measures are therefore 
required to protect the quality of the water supply from the effects of development and as a 
result of ongoing activities which may have a high potential for pollution. 

 
6.15 The application has been accompanied by a Tier 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study, Ground   

Water Investigation, and a draft Eton Wick Burial Management Plan. The application also 
follows pre-application advice obtained from the Environment Agency. 

 
6.16 The site is located within Source Protection Zone 2 (SPZ2) and upon a Principal aquifer.     The 

groundwater is therefore particularly sensitive in this location. Source Protection Zones (SPZs) 
are defined by the Environment Agency as areas around wells, boreholes and springs and 
provide the EA with an indication of the risk to groundwater supplies from potentially polluting 
activities.  

 
6.17 An intrusive site investigation was carried out by Jomas in May 2016 and three sample boreholes 

were installed on site. The standing water has been measured at between 1.3m and 1.7m below 
ground level (bgl). Since a single burial is generally at a depth of 1.8m bgl, the site investigation 
results suggest that burials will be into standing water. Since at least 1 metre clearance between 
the base of the grave and the top of the water table has to be maintained the proposal to inter 
human bodies on this parcel of land is considered to be unacceptable by the Environment 
Agency. 

 
6.18 The draft Burial Management Plans submitted with the application suggests a condition that: 

            No burials will take place into standing water. This may limit the depth at certain times after 
heavy or prolonged rain or on occasion may delay a funeral until water has receded. 

 
6.19 The water level fluctuates seasonably and the EA has advised that this is why the guidance also 

says that at least 1 metre clearance has to be provided between the base of the grave and the 
top to the water table. The top of the water table means the maximum water table level. Interring 
the body under the water table at any time of the year will lead to pollution of ground water. 

 
6.20 The proposed cemetery extension is located over the Shepperton Gravel Member (Principal 

aquifer) which overlays the London Clay and this gravel aquifer needs to be protected with 
respect to ground water quality. The site lies within a SPZ2 for the potable water supply (PWS) at 
Eton. The borehole records for Eton PWS show that wells extend into the chalk (confined under 
the London Clay) however, the information from the SPZ modelling for this potable supply 
indicates the bulk of the abstraction is from the Shepperton Gravels. The site is also within the 
flood plain of the River Thames and groundwater (water table) in the gravels is likely to be 
shallow. Since this site is within a SPZ2, burials must not be into groundwater at any time of the 
year. 

 
6.21 The Environment Agency considers that the proposed development poses an unacceptable risk 

of causing a detrimental impact on ground water quality because: 
 

1. It presents a risk of pollution to groundwater supplies 
2. The proposed graves do not have at least 1 metre clearance between the base of the grave 

and the top of the water table. 
 
The Environment Agency has objected to the proposal because it would pose an unacceptable 
risk of pollution to groundwater. There are no suitable mitigation measures that can be 
implemented in this case. For instance it would not be possible to increase the land levels in the 
flood plain. Whilst the Council is sympathetic to the need to extend the cemetery to serve the 
local community the advice obtained from the Environment Agency cannot be ignored. The 
application is therefore recommended refusal of this application. 

              
           

 

 Parking and Highway Issues 
 

6.22 There are no parking or highway issues arising from this proposal. 
38



   

 
6.23      Other Material Considerations 
 

Some of the representations have referred to the previous approval granted in 2008 to extend the 
churchyard and the fact that the EA did not object to the previous application. The EA has 
confirmed that they did not consider the effect on groundwater quality and the connectivity with 
the drinking water borehole at that time and if it had been taken into account they would have 
raised an objection. 
 
Some of the representations have referred to the fact that no issues arise from the Water Oakley 
cemetery being close to the river. It has already been established that there is no flooding issue 
arising from this proposal. The objections relate to the site being within a Source Protection Zone 
and its impact on the quality of the groundwater.  

            
7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 A site notice was posted on 23rd January 2018. A total of 2 neighbours have been notified and 

37 letters of support have been received which are summarised as follows: 
 

Comment Officer Response 

There is a need to have churchyard extended to enable local 
people to be buried/interned there 

See assessment under 
paragraph 6.1 section v 

Only a few burials take place each year which will not affect 
the environment 

See assessment set out in 
paragraph 6.1 section v 

Oakley cemetery is closer to river and has many more 
burials with no issues 

See paragraph 6.2 

Previous application approved See paragraph 6.2 

Proposal will preserve churchyard for future generations 
See assessment under 
paragraph 6.1 section v 

 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Eton Town 
Council 

1. Identical application approved in 2008 without 
concerns from EA 

2. Extension adjoins burial ground – no evidence of 
burials affecting water quality. 

3. Alternative location for residents of Eton & Eton 
Wick would be Water Oakley cemetery which is 
closer to river and has no restrictions on it. 

4. Average of 3-5 burials in graveyard a year. 
5. Village community looking to enable future 

generations to be allowed to be buried in the 
community they have lived in 

 
See para 6.2 
and assessment 
set out in 
paragraph 6.1 
section v 

Conservation 
Officer 

No objection Noted 

Environmental 
Protection 

No concerns Noted 

Highways No objection Noted 

Environment 
Agency 

Object on grounds of unacceptable risk of pollution to 
groundwater 

See 
assessment 
under 
paragraph 6.1 
section v 

 

39



   

  
9. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
  

 Appendix A -  Proposed site layout 

  
10. REASON RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL.  
 
1. The proposal development, because of its location within Source Protection Zone 2 and upon a 

Principal aquifer, would pose an unacceptable risk to pollution of groundwater, contrary to policy 
NAP4 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating 
Alterations Adopted June 2003) and guidance set out in paragraph 109 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40



41



   

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 
 
28 March 2018          Item:  4 

Application 
No.: 

18/00065/VAR 

Location: 34 - 52 St Leonards Road Windsor   
Proposal: Variation to planning application 01/81424 (allowed on appeal) to remove condition 14 

(satellite car park) for the erection of new college building on corner of Trinity Place/St 
Leonards Road plus provision of ancillary 120 space car park and landscaping 
(amended 27.05.02 & 8.10.02)   

Applicant: The Windsor Forest Colleges Group 
Agent: Mr Baldip Basi 
Parish/Ward: Windsor Unparished/Castle Without Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Sian Saadeh on 01682 796164 or at 
sian.saadeh@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This application seeks to remove condition 14 of planning permission 01/81424.  The condition 

requires the retention of the car park off Alma Road for use by the Windsor Forest Colleges 
Group, in association with their building at Trinity Place/St Leonards Road.  It has been 
demonstrated that the loss of this car park would not harm parking provision for the college and 
so the condition can be removed.   

 

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission  

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 

  

 At the request of Councillor Rankin if the recommendation is to grant planning permission in 
order to assess pressure on parking in Central Windsor. 

  
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1  The site is an existing car park located off Alma Road.  It is accessed via the turning to the old 

Imperial House site. Cars have to cross the pedestrian footpath running from Alma Road to 
Vansittart Road in order to enter the site.   

 
3.2 The car park currently provides 50 car parking spaces.  As per the requirements of the condition, 

it is for use in association with the Windsor College campus at Trinity Place/St Leonards Road.  
Outside of term time and at weekends public parking is permitted at the site.   

 
4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The proposal is to remove condition 14 of planning permission 01/81424.  This condition states: 
 

“The existing satellite car park off Alma Road, outlined in blue of drawings 00293/P54A, shall be 
retained for the parking area of vehicles associated with the use and occupation of the college 
building.” 

  
4.2 The removal of the condition would mean that the site was no longer required to be maintained 

as a car park.   
 
4.3 Planning permission 01/81424 was for Erection of new college building on corner of Trinity 

Place/St Leonards Road plus provision of ancillary 120 space car park and landscaping 
(amended 27.05.02 & 8.10.02). It was allowed on appeal on 9th March 2004.  

 

42



   

4.4 Also relevant is the recent planning permission 15/03161 for Three storey rear extension with 
associated amendments to car park layout at the Trinity Place/St Leonards Road site.  It was 
granted on 11th December 2015.   

 
5. MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework Sections 
 
 Royal Borough Local Plan 
 
5.2 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

Highways and 
Parking 

P4 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 
 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
 

Issue Local Plan Policy 

Sustainable transport  IF2 

 
The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations 
and setting out its response to them.  This report, together with all the representations received 
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents have now been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. In this context, the Borough Local Plan: 
Submission Version is a material consideration, but limited weight is afforded to this document at 
this time ahead of its examination.  
 
This document can be found at: 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1 

 
Other Local Strategies or Publications 

 
5.3 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
  

  RBWM Parking Strategy – view at:  
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 
 
6. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 

i Parking provision  
 

Parking Provision 
 
6.2 The application is supported by parking surveys for the car parking at the main Windsor College 

site and at the Alma Road site.  The condition was originally imposed to ensure adequate 
parking provision for users of the College building.  It is therefore most relevant to look at 
whether or not sufficient parking is maintained for this site.   

 

43

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

6.3 Under the Local Authorities current parking standards (May 2004) educational establishments 
within an area of good accessibility requires; 

 
1. 1 space per 4 full time equivalent staff  
2. 1 space per 30 students 
 
The information submitted with the application establishes the following parking 
requirement for the current use of the site: 
 

Number Parking Standard Parking required 

Staff 69.5 (fte) 1 space per 4 full-time 
equivalent staff 

18 

Student 799 (fte) 1 space per 30 
students 

27 

Total Parking requirement 45 

As noted above, there is a recent permission for an extension at this site and 
amendments to the car parking layout.  The information with the application has also set 
out what the parking requirement for this use would be: 
 

Number Parking Standard Parking required 

Staff 69.5 (fte) 1 space per 4 full-time 
equivalent staff 

18 

Student 839 (fte) 1 space per 30 
students 

28 

Total Parking requirement 46 

 
 The current layout provides 116 spaces whilst the revised layout is for 107.  In both schemes the 

main car park at the site provides in excess of the required parking level.   
 
6.4 The car parking survey shows for the main car park shows that during the peak hours of use 

(1100 to 1400), there were between 6 - 14 spaces available during any 15 minute period. Outside 
of these hours, there were more than 14 spaces available. For the Alma Road site the 
information shows that only 2 vehicles parked within the car park during 12 hours (0700 to 1900).  
The parking survey data shows a very limited use of the Alma Road site and that there is 
sufficient parking provided for the college in the main car park.   

 
6.5 As noted above, the signs in the car park indicate that it is available for use by the public at the 

weekends and outside of term time.  The car park has never been primarily for use by the public 
and this use appears to have arisen incidentally.  A parking survey has been submitted for a 
Saturday to give indication of public use of the site.  This shows that the peak usage was 10 
spaces for approximately a 30 minute period in the early afternoon.  Whilst the loss of this car 
park would result in the loss of spaces available for public use as this time, the primary function 
of the car park is as overspill parking for the College.  The small number of public users could be 
accommodated within the local area and it is not considered that there would be a significant 
additional pressure placed on local parking from the loss of this car park.     

 
6.6 Overall, the scheme would ensure sufficient parking is maintained for the College, is not 

considered to have a harmful impact on parking provision within the local area and would comply 
with Local Plan policy P4.   

 
6.7 The application is for the removal of a condition on an existing planning permission. As that 

development has been implemented other conditions have also been omitted from this decision 
notice.    

  
7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 78 occupiers were notified directly of the application. 
 

44



   

 The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 31st January and 
the application was advertised in the Maidenhead & Windsor Advertiser on 1st February. 

  
8 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:  

 

Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

1. Busy, well-used car park by general public; essential for local 
churchgoers, residents and visitors; parking in Windsor challenge for 
local community 

Paragraph 6.5 

2. Timing of application with development at adjoining site and should be 
disclosed if site being sold; link between loss of parking at adjoining 
site 

The two 
applications are 
separate and 
must be 
assessed 
independently.  
This application 
site is owned by 
the College and 
not RBWM who 
operate the car 
park under 
licence.   

3. Impact on vista to Trinity Church No physical 
works are 
proposed that 
would harm the 
views in the local 
area. 

4. Adjoining properties not consulted.   Statutory 
requirements for 
consultation have 
been met as site 
notices have 
been put up 
around the site.   

 
 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Highways 
Authority 

The development still complies with the Borough’s current 
Parking Strategy (May 2004) by providing 62 additional car 
parking spaces within the main car park. Therefore from a 
highways point of view the Project Centre offers no objection 
to the proposal 

Section 6 

 
 Other consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Lead Local 
Flood 
Authority 

No impact on surface water runoff Noted  

Trees No objection Noted 

 
45



   

 
8. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 

 Appendix A - Site location plan 

 
 

 
 
 
 

46



Appendix A 

 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Appeals Received

17 February 2018 - 19 March 2018

WINDSOR URBAN

The appeals listed below have been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.  
Should you wish to make additional/new comments in connection with an appeal you can do so on the Planning 
Inspectorate website at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ please use the PIns reference number.  If you do 
not have access to the Internet please write to the relevant address, shown below.

Enforcement appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, 
BS1 6PN 

Other appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate Temple Quay House, 2 The Square Bristol BS1 6PN 

Ward:
Parish: Windsor Unparished
Appeal Ref.: 18/60030/REF Planning Ref.: 17/02584/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/18/

3192933
Date Received: 26 February 2018 Comments Due: Not Applicable
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Householder
Description: New vehicular access
Location: 356 St Leonards Road Windsor SL4 3DX 
Appellant: Mrs Nicola Shurben 356 St Leonards Road Windsor SL4 3DX

Ward:
Parish: Windsor Unparished
Appeal Ref.: 18/60031/REF Planning Ref.: 17/02987/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/18/

3193555
Date Received: 26 February 2018 Comments Due: Not Applicable
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Householder
Description: Single storey side/rear extension following demolition of existing single storey extension
Location: 57 Elm Road Windsor SL4 3NB
Appellant: Ruth Webster c/o Agent: Mr Andrew Burningham Architecture:Ab High Trees Steven Way 

Ripon North Yorkshire HG4 2TJ

Ward:
Parish: Eton Town Council
Appeal Ref.: 18/60036/REF Planning Ref.: 16/03344/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/17/

3191281
Date Received: 7 March 2018 Comments Due: 11 April 2018
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation
Description: Erection of timber sports pavilion building.
Location: Gymnasium Eton College Common Lane Eton Windsor SL4 6DU 
Appellant: Provost And Fellows of Eton College c/o Agent: Mr John Bowles Porta Planning LLP 67 - 69 

George Street London W1U 8LT

Ward:
Parish: Eton Town Council
Appeal Ref.: 18/60037/REF Planning Ref.: 17/03790/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/18/

3195601
Date Received: 12 March 2018 Comments Due: Not Applicable
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Householder
Description: Single storey side extension, first floor rear/side extension, first floor rear extension, hip to 

gable and rear dormer to facilitate a loft conversion and alterations to fenestration 
(amendment to planning permission 16/01933/FULL)

Location: 2 Broken Furlong Eton Windsor SL4 6PD
Appellant: Mr James Bainton c/o Agent: Mr Edward Mather Colony Architects 4 Mount Pleasant 

Cottages Bracknell Road Warfield Berkshire RG42 6LA

49

Agenda Item 5

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

51

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf

	3 MINUTES
	Minutes

	4 PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)
	Planning_Applications

	5 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)
	7 Minutes - Part II

